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FREQENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS LIST (FAQ)
The FAQ is broken out into seven categories for ease of use: 

1.
Description and general guidelines for the IREX Consortium

2. 
General questions about the competition

3.  
Budget Questions

4.    
Cost Share

5.
Questions about web publishing projects 

6.
Questions about electronic mailing list projects 

7. Questions about on-line database projects 

8. Questions about combined projects

9.
Proposal Logistics

1.  What is the IREX Consortium?

Q1.1:  What is the IREX Consortium?

A1.1:  The IREX Consortium for the Humanities and Social Sciences is designed to give university and scholarly leaders in Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Russia, and Ukraine the tools and knowledge needed to strengthen their institutions and build effective regional centers of learning. Three synergistic program components within the Consortium encourage partnership and participation between scholars from the US, Western and Central Europe, Turkey, Iran, Russia, Ukraine, Georgia, Azerbaijan, and Armenia. 

The program components are: 

The Targeted Exchanges Program, geared toward individual academics, curriculum developers, and educational institution administrators; 

The Small Grants for Partnership Development Program, in which universities exchange information and cultivate new partnership linkages; and 

The Information Resources and Dissemination Program, which will provide a forum for the creation of on-line databases and the dissemination of scholarly papers and new curricula over the Internet. This component includes a creative series of interlocking projects specifically for the social sciences and humanities communities of Russia, Ukraine, and the Caucasus:

· Web-Publishing Project 

· Electronic Mailing List Management Training Project 

· On-Line Database Support Project 

All three components of the IREX Consortium are interrelated, and IREX encourages individuals and universities to apply for multiple components to ensure maximum benefit to both individuals and institutions.

Q1.2: Does participation in one component require participation in all?

A1.2: No.  Applicants may apply for and participate in (if selected) as many of the three components as they wish.

Q1.3: Will applications for funding under the Information Resources and Dissemination Component be considered differently if the applicants have been selected to receive funding under other Consortium components?

A1.3: As it is stated in the RFP, IREX will give preference to individuals and institutions that have received funding under other components of the IREX Consortium for Humanities and Social Sciences or under previous rounds of the Information Resources and Dissemination Component and can demonstrate how the activities proposed complement one another. 

However, it should be noted that prior submission in no way guarantees that the applicant will receive a grant under the Information Resources and Dissemination Component.  All successful applicants for the current competition to support electronic resources must propose an activity or series of activities that will further strengthen research and teaching at the institutions of higher education or make new resources available to the social science and humanities community on the Web.

2.
General questions about the RFP and program proposals

Q2.1: What will be the actual mechanism of receiving funds from IREX to cover project costs.

A2.1: Grants will be disbursed by wire. For this reason, it is important that the full bank information and account numbers are presented on the application coversheet for all projects requesting funds under this competition.

Q2.2: Should information about previous web experience/activities be included with proposals?

A2.2: Yes. Such information could play a positive role in the review panel’s decision.

Q2.3: Should I include information in my proposal about the project after its implementation period is over?

A2.3: Absolutely.  The purpose of the grants competition is to encourage the development of resources that continue well after the project period has ended.  It is highly recommended that you develop and state in detail your plans to ensure that your project does not become outdated and lose its usefulness after the project period has ended.

Q2.4: Can individuals or institutions located outside of Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Russia, or Ukraine apply for the competition? 

A2.4: No. Only individuals and institutions located in these five countries may participate in the Information Resources and Dissemination Competition.  In those cases where individuals are applying to publish products of a partnership, only an organization from one of theses five target countries may serve as the actual grant recipient on behalf of themselves or partner institutions.

Q2.5: Will IREX read concept papers from the applicants? 

A2.5: No. Due to the limited timeframe involved, IREX will not accept any concept papers or preliminary proposals from the candidates.

Q2.6: Are individuals or institutions allowed to submit more than one proposal, for separate activities?

A2.6: Individuals or institutions can submit more than one proposal, as long as the proposed projects involve distinctly different sets of activities. However, IREX would much prefer to receive one cogent proposal reflecting the applicant’s genuine interests than several quickly put-together ones.

Q2.7: What types of attachments are appropriate and acceptable?

A2.7: Recommendation letters, resumes, newspaper articles, other supporting documents.

3. Budget Questions
Q3.1: Is there a strict format for putting together budgets, or will the applicants themselves determine what budget format to use? 

A3.1:  There is no strict format for preparing budget proposals. However, the applicants should adhere to the budget proposal guidelines outlined in the RFP.  Please consult with IATP staff regarding appropriate budgetary items to include.  Remember to include a budget narrative describing the purpose of each line item.

Q3.2:  How do I estimate the costs of a particular item for the budget?

A3.2:  It is highly recommended that you research prices for the things you will be requesting.  When possible, you should include cost estimates in written form from the vendors where you plan on purchasing what you need.  If you cannot get cost estimates in written form, it is recommended that you include the name of the store, telephone number, and the name of the person who provided you with prices.  

4. Cost Share

Q4.1: What is cost share?

A4.1: Cost share denotes contributions from partner institutions or other third parties that the value of can be calculated and counted toward a program budget. Typically, cost sharing includes things such as outright donations of equipment, software, furniture, office supplies, and services furnished by professional and technical personnel, consultants, and other skilled or unskilled labor at no cost; in-kind donation such as room rental or use of equipment, and the use of a different grant or different money to cover costs associated with the project. 

Applicants should pursue opportunities to cost share.  Applicants are to estimate the value of each instance of cost sharing for inclusion in the proposed project budget if applicable. 

Q4.2: How important is cost share for my proposal? 

A4.2: Sharing the cost of your activity is greatly encouraged as it implies greater sustainability of the project.  The selection committee will look favorably upon proposals with significant cost share.

Q4.3: How do I calculate cost share?

A4.3: Calculate cost share as if you were buying the item, or paying for the services/time being donated. Where you cannot price an item, include an estimate of cost share.  

Be sure to include ALL applicable cost-sharing strategies in your proposed project budget.  If a letter can be provided from the individual or organization offering the cost share, please do so.

5.
Web Publishing Projects

Q5.1: What would you call an ideal Web publishing proposal?

A5.1: An ideal proposal is one which will strengthen research and teaching at the institutions of higher education by making available related local-language research materials on the Web. Project goals and activities must be feasible, sustainable, and financially sound; and have a realistic timeline.  The applicant must demonstrate an ability and willingness to maintain the resource after project funding ends.  

Further strengthening the application will be the extent to which it builds on previous activities or collaboration, particularly those carried out, or to be carried out, under other program components of the IREX Consortium.
Q5.2: Is the web publishing project of the Information Resources and Dissemination component for individuals?

A5.2: An individual may apply for publication of their own work, or on the behalf of an organization or institution in which several principle coordinators from a respective institution could be involved in completing the project. 
Q5.3: In those instances where an individual is applying on behalf of an institution, is it expected that the relevant university rector will approve or endorse the application? 

A5.3: For IREX’s purposes, it is not a requirement for the application that the rector of any submitting university approve or endorse the application.  

The signature that is required, however, is that of the Project Director.  The Director, who will have overall project responsibility, including oversight of project development, implementation of project activities, and compliance with all financial, programmatic, and reporting requirements, must sign the application coversheet. 

Q5.4: Is it important in which language the materials will be published electronically?

A5.4: Yes. Materials to be published electronically must be in Russian or other local language.  They may also be in English or another language, as long as they are also in a local language.

Q5.5: The RFP cites a number of items and activities that are eligible for funding under the grant.  Should applicants try to incorporate elements of all these activities in their proposals?  

A5.5: Applicants should not incorporate all cited items and activities into their proposal.  The list is intended as an illustrative guide to demonstrate the breadth of possible elements eligible for funding under the grant.

Q5.6: The RFP mentions that applicants may request up to a maximum sum of $1,000 in 

IREX funding for projects lasting no longer than 4 months in duration. Can $1,000 be requested for a project lasting less than 4 months in duration?

A5.6: Yes, applicants may request the full grant sum for projects lasting less than 4 months in duration; however, IREX/IATP reserves the right in all cases to fund a project at less than the original proposal request based on selection committee recommendations.

Q5.7: Is the figure of $1,000 mentioned in the RFP the maximum total IREX request, or does it represent the sum of the IREX request plus cost-share?

A5.7: The sum of $1,000 represents the IREX request only.  The total value of the project, including cost-share, may total in excess of $1,000.

Q5.8: Can I include funding for computer equipment or software in my proposal?
A5.8: Only supplemental computer equipment (i.e. scanner, modem, or digital camera) and software packages necessary to enhance the ability to produce materials on the Web will be approved. In all instances, the applicant must clearly demonstrate the way in which the supplemental computer equipment and software requested will directly contribute to their ability to produce materials for the Internet.

When considering inclusion of supplemental computer equipment in the cost proposal, investigate opportunities to use equipment at the university/institution/organization you are affiliated with, if applicable, or local organizations that offer Internet access and services to the public for free:  Such organizations include:

Armenia

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Grigori Vahanyan, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 3642-588-188

E-mail: gregor@concourt.am

Web: http://www.iatp.am/

Azerbaijan

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Vitaliy Izmailov, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 994-12-97-70-15

E-mail: vit@iatp.aznet.org

Web: http://www.iatp.aznet.org

Georgia

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Vakhtang Kontridze, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 995-32-25-06-78

E-mail: vkontridze@access.sanet.ge

Web: http://www.iatp.org.ge

Russia

Project Harmony Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Project Harmony/Moscow

Tel/Fax: (095) 234 1695

E-mail: phmos@projectharmony.ru

Web: http://iatp.projectharmony.ru/
Ukraine

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Artur Yaremenko, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 380-44-229-3479

E-mail: artur@gilan.uar.net

Web: http://iatp.org.ua

[if you have additional contacts, please insert organization name and contact info]
Q5.9: Can I hire a subcontractor to complete a portion of my project on my behalf? 

A5.9: IREX suggests that you not do this until you carefully assess the tasks of your proposed project.  Determine which tasks you are able to do and which you are unable to do.  If you would be hiring a subcontractor to complete tasks which you can learn on your own, for example simple instances of HTML coding, investigate ways you can learn to do these tasks on your own.  In many cases, the Internet Access and Training Program (IATP) provides web design courses free of charge (see contact information above). The benefit of learning these tasks yourself is that you may be able to do it for free or at less cost than hiring a subcontractor. Keep in mind the monetary limit of the grants. 

If you know only one language and wish to have your work translated into another, hiring a translator would be an example of when you would use a subcontractor.


6.      Electronic Mailing List

Q6.1: Is the electronic mailing list management training project of the Information Resources and Dissemination component for individuals?

A6.1: An individual may apply with their own electronic mailing list concept, or on the behalf of a public or private social sciences and humanities related institution in which several principle coordinators from a respective institution could be involved in completing the project.  

Strong preference will be given to applicants who can demonstrate significant institutional support for the project.  Institutional support allows applicants to draw on the resources of an institution to complete, maintain, and publicize the project.  Institutional support may take the form of a university allowing the applicant to use its computers for the project or other faculty contributing content for the list or incorporating it into their curriculum.  Information about institutional support should be included in section “D.  Institutional Capacity/Personnel Qualifications.”

Applicants who have electronic mailing list concepts resulting from a targeted exchange program, or abstracts for concepts based on collaboration under the partnership development project are also encouraged to apply for a grant under the electronic mailing list project. 

Q6.2: In those instances where an individual is applying on behalf of an institution, is it expected that the cognizant university rector will approve or endorse the application? 

A6.2: For IREX’s purposes, it is not a requirement for the application that the rector of any submitting institution approve or endorse the application.  

The signature that is required, however, is that of the Project Director.  The Director, who will have overall project responsibility, including oversight of project development, implementation of project activities, and compliance with all financial, programmatic, and reporting requirements, must sign the application coversheet. 

Q6.3: What would you call an ideal electronic mailing list proposal?

A6.3: An ideal proposal is one which will strengthen research and teaching at the institutions of higher education in Ukraine and the Caucasus by the opportunity for professionals in the academic community to exchange information and ideas through the administration of specialized electronic mailing lists. Project goals and activities must be feasible, sustainable, and financially sound; and have a realistic timeline.  The best applicants will demonstrate the usefulness of the resource to be created, have a clear plan for publicizing the list to its audiences, and demonstrate an ability and commitment to continue the list after IREX funding ends.   

Further strengthening the application will be the extent to which it builds on previous activities or collaboration, particularly those carried out, or to be carried out, under other program components of the IREX Consortium.  

Q6.4: The RFP states that “IREX staff will provide limited training for the electronic mailing list administrator selected by the participating organization.” What is the difference between the project coordinator/director, and the electronic mailing list administrator?

A6.4: The project coordinator or director will be the individual who will oversee the logistics and organization of administering the grant. The electronic mailing list administrator is to be a member of the institution’s staff, where applicable, selected by the institution or project coordinator as the individual who will maintain the electronic mailing list. The project coordinator and the electronic mailing list administrator will most likely be the same person, although it is not required.

Q6.5: Is the individual designated by the applicant to be the electronic mailing list administrator required to have technical expertise?

A6.5: No. The electronic mailing list administrator need not have technical expertise.  Recommended individuals, however, must have a thorough understanding of electronic mail, and able to participate in the project for the duration of the grant. A strong interest and dedication in the project on behalf of the electronic mailing list administrator is ideal for the purpose of sustainability.

Q6.6: Is it important in which language the materials will be published electronically?

A6.6: IREX encourages that electronic mailing lists be in the local language.

Q6.7: The RFP cites a number of items and activities that are eligible for funding under the grant.  Should applicants try to incorporate elements of all these activities in their proposals?  

A6.7: Applicants should not incorporate all cited items and activities into their proposal.  The list is intended as an illustrative guide to demonstrate the breadth of possible elements eligible for funding under the grant.

Q6.8: Is the figure of $1,000 mentioned in the RFP the maximum total IREX request, or does it represent the sum of the IREX request plus cost-share?

A6.8: The sum of $1,000 represents the IREX request only.  The total value of the project, including cost-share, may total in excess of $1,000.

Q6.9: Should an electronic mailing list administrator stipend be included in the proposed budget?

A6.9: No. The stipend amount for the electronic mailing list administrator is pre-determined by IREX.  The $1,000 grant limit listed on the first page of the request for proposals does not include this stipend amount.  Once participants are selected, they will be notified by IREX of the amount of the electronic mailing list administrator stipend at the time the grant agreement is signed.

Q6.10: Can I include funding for computer equipment in my proposal?
A6.10: Yes, but only supplemental computer equipment (i.e. modem or new phone line) and upgrades necessary to administer and sustain an electronic mailing list will be approved.  IREX will not approve funding for workstations.  In all instances, the applicant must clearly demonstrate the way in which the computer equipment requested will directly contribute to their ability to administer the electronic mailing list.

When considering inclusion of computer equipment in the cost proposal, investigate opportunities to use equipment at the university/institution you are affiliated with, if applicable, or local organizations that offer Internet access and services to the public for free. Such organizations include:

Armenia

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Grigori Vahanyan, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 3642-588-188

E-mail: gregor@concourt.am

Web: http://www.iatp.am/

Azerbaijan

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Vitaly Izmailov, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 994-12-97-70-15

E-mail: vit@iatp.aznet.org

Web: http://www.iatp.aznet.org

Georgia

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Vakhtang Kontridze, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 995-32-25-06-78

E-mail: vkontridze@access.sanet.ge

Web: http://www.iatp.org.ge

Russia

Project Harmony Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Project Harmony/Moscow

Tel/Fax: (095) 234 1695

E-mail: phmos@projectharmony.ru

Web: http://iatp.projectharmony.ru/
Ukraine

IREX Internet Access and Training Program (IATP)

Artur Yaremenko, IATP Country Coordinator

Tel: 380-44-229-3479

E-mail: artur@gilan.uar.net

Web: http://iatp.org.ua

[if you have additional contacts, please insert organization name and contact info]
7.   On-line Database
Q7.1: Is the On-Line Database Support project of the Information Resources and Dissemination component for individuals?

A7.1: Individuals are eligible for support under the on-line database component, however strong preference will be given to applicants who can demonstrate significant institutional support for the project.  Institutional support allows applicants to draw on the resources of an institution to complete, maintain, and publicize the project.  Institutional support may take the form of a university allowing the applicant to use its computers for the project or other faculty contributing content for the database or incorporating it into their curriculum.  Information about institutional support should be included in section “D.  Institutional Capacity/Personnel Qualifications.”

Q7.2: How large must the already compiled raw data and materials be in order to be considered eligible for the project? 

A7.2: Only proposals that represent data for the database with a minimum of 300 entries will be considered.

Q7.3: What would you call an ideal database proposal?

A7.3: Essential resources for On-Line Database Support project applicants must include a rich base of empirical scholarly data that is useful to the social science and humanities community and is technically feasible to put into an on-line database format.  Because most of the development of the database is done by the IREX database developer, it is particularly important for the applicant to demonstration the ability to sustain this investment through active updating and maintaining of the database.  

Further strengthening the application will be the extent to which it builds on previous activities or collaboration, particularly those carried out under other program components of the IREX Consortium.  

A good example of a database would be a database that lists all of the languages spoken in Russia, linguists who specialize in those languages, and bibliography of resources for each language.

Q7.4: What is the difference between the project coordinator/director, and the database administrator?

A7.4: The project coordinator or director will be the individual who will serve as the primary project contact for the institution. The database administrator may be a member of the institution’s staff selected by the institution or project coordinator as the individual who will maintain the database. The project coordinator and the database administrator will most likely be the same person, although it is not required.

Q7.5: Is the individual designated by the applicant to be the database administrator required to have technical expertise?

A7.5: No. The database administrator does not need to have technical expertise.  Recommended individuals, however, must be familiar with basic computer and database functions, and able to participate in the project for the duration of the grant. A strong interest and dedication in the project on behalf of the database administrator is ideal for the purpose of sustainability.

Q7.6: How would the database be accessed by the general public?

A7.6: A specialized web interface would be created for each database, which would allow anyone to access the data in the database through the Internet by simply using a web browser. The database would normally include search capabilities, as well as several ways to present the data.

Q7.7: How would the database be administered?

A7.7: The database would be administered through the same web interface by using special adminstrator’s password. The user using the password would be able to access certain restricted features for editing, adding and deleting the data not available to the general public.
Q7.8: Will IREX accept abstract concepts for database materials that have not yet been created? 

A7.8: No. The purpose of this project is to bring existing material to a larger audience. This project should focus on bringing underutilized existing data on-line.

Q7.9: Are applicants required to submit all proposed database data and materials with their proposal?

A7.9: Applicants are required to submit a substantial sample of proposed database data and materials with a minimum of 20 entries.  Applicants must indicate in the proposal what percentage of the total data is represented in the sample submission. However, it is always beneficial to submit the full database with the application, as it will allow the selection committee to evaluate the proposal more specifically.  Applicants are also encouraged to submit any accompanying documentation related to how the applicant envisions the structure of data in the proposed database.  

Compiled data should be submitted either in a preferable electronic format, or applicants are required to enter data in a specified period of time into the on-line database through the web interface once it is completed.  The specified time period will be determined by IREX at the time the grant is awarded.

The applicant should present three copies of diskettes (or another form of electronic media such as CD-ROM or ZIP disk) of data and materials for the proposed database.

Q7.10: What electronic format for submitted database content should be used?

A7.10: The following electronic formats for database content are preferable: Excel tables, comma-separated lists in text format, DBASE (DBF) or Paradox tables, Generic SQL Dump or SQL Dump for one of the common DBMS (Sybase ASA 6.0, MS SQL Server, MySQL). Other formats may also be considered.

If proposed materials exist in an electronic format that can not be easily converted, then applicants are required to enter the data in a transferable electronic format or through the web interface within a specified time period to be determined by IREX at the time the grant is awarded.

Q7.11: Can resultant on-line databases be hosted on a web server other than that of IREX?

A7.11: The databases may be hosted on a web server other than that of IREX only in limited cases.  Such a server must have all software necessary to support the database.  Regardless of the server on which the database will be hosted, it must be clearly stated that IREX created the database user interface with funding provided by the Carnegie Corporation of New York.  All necessary actions for transferring the database to another server (modifications of the code, payment of hosting fees, etc.) are the responsibility of the institution.  
Q7.12: Is it important in which language the materials will be published electronically?

A7.12: IREX encourages that on-line databases be in Russian or other local language, but it is not required.

8. Combined Projects

Q8.1:  What should I include in the proposal for a combined project?

A8.1:  For each section of the proposal, you should answer all the questions and include all requested information under that sections for each component of your project.  If for example you have a project to create an on-line database with a web publishing component, in the “E. Content” section you should include both a description of the data for the database, how and when this data was compiled, how often it has been updated, an appropriate sample of the data, information about the structure of the data, plus an outline of other research materials to be posted, abstract of the findings, and total number of pages.  You must also demonstrate how both of these components fit together into a unique and useful electronic resource.   

9. Logistics

Q9.1: Is it important which IREX office the applications are submitted to?

A9.1: The applications must be submitted to the IREX office in the country of the applicant, so that the materials can be distributed to local review panels. Contact information for your local IREX offices is available on page 14 and 15 of the RFP.

Please note that applications should NOT be sent to the IREX/DC office.

Q9.2: Can applications be faxed or should they be sent by post or express mail?

A9.2: Applications should be sent by post or express mail, or delivered in person only.  

Q9.3: Is it important to submit 3 copies of the proposal in both English and Russian?

A9.3: Yes, it is stated in the RFP that applicants should submit program and cost proposals in both English and Russian.  Applications in both languages must be submitted in triplicate.  Please also remember to submit the 3 copies of the attachments as well.
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